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must consider each count separately and return a separate verdict of guilty or not

guilty for the defendant on each count. Whether you find the defendant guilty or

not guilty as to one offense should not affect your verdict as to the other offenses

charged, except to the extent I explain otherwise.

B. Summary of the Offenses

Count One alleges that the defendant, FREDERIC BOURKE,

participated in a conspiracy to violate two federal statutes – the Foreign Corrupt

Practices Act and the Travel Act – in violation of Section 371 of Title 18 of the

United States Code.

Count Two alleges that FREDERIC BOURKE participated in a

conspiracy to launder money in violation of Section 1956(h) of Title 18 of the

United States Code.

Count Three charges FREDERIC BOURKE with making false

statements in connection with a federal investigation in violation of Section 1001

of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I will now instruct you about the elements of each of these offenses.  

C. Conspiracy to Violate the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the

Travel Act

1. The Indictment and the Statute

Count One charges that the defendant violated Section 371 of Title 18
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of the United States Code.  That section provides as follows:

If two or more persons conspire either to commit any

offense against the United States, or to defraud the United

States, or any agency thereof in any manner or for any

purpose and one or more of such persons do any act to

effect the object of the conspiracy, each [person is guilty of

a crime].

The Indictment charges that the defendant participated in a conspiracy

to violate two federal laws: the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) and the

Travel Act.  Specifically, Count One charges, and I am reading now from the

Indictment, that:

From in or about May 1997, up to and including in or about

1999, in the Southern District of New York and elsewhere,

Viktor Kozeny, FREDERIC BOURKE, JR., the defendant,

Clayton Lewis, Hans Bodmer, Thomas Farrell, and others

known and unknown to the Grand Jury, unlawfully,

willfully, and knowingly combined, conspired,

confederated, and agreed together and with each other to

commit offenses against the United States; to wit,

violations of (a) the FCPA, Title 15, United States Code,

Section 78dd-2; and (b) the Travel Act, Title 18, United

States Code, Section 1952(a)(3)(A).

2. Elements of a Conspiracy

To sustain its burden of proof with respect to the allegation of

conspiracy in this Count, the Government must prove three elements beyond a

reasonable doubt.  I will now discuss each of these elements. 

a. First Element of a Conspiracy – Existence of a
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Conspiracy

Starting with the first element, what is a conspiracy?  A conspiracy is

a combination, an agreement, or an understanding of two or more persons to

accomplish by concerted action a criminal or unlawful purpose. 

The essence of the crime of conspiracy is the unlawful combination or

agreement to violate the law.  The success of the conspiracy, or the actual

commission of the criminal act that is the object of the conspiracy, is not an

essential element of that crime.

The conspiracy alleged here is therefore the agreement to commit

crimes.  It is an entirely distinct and separate offense from the actual commission

of any of the crimes.

If you find beyond a reasonable doubt that two or more persons came

to an understanding, express or implied, to violate the law and to accomplish an

unlawful plan, then the Government will have sustained its burden of proof as to

this element.

In considering this first element, you should consider all the evidence

that has been admitted with respect to the conduct and statements of each alleged

co-conspirator and any inferences that may be reasonably drawn from them.

In this case, the Indictment charges that the conspiracy alleged in Count One had



23

two objects: (1) a violation of the FCPA and (2) a violation of the Travel Act.

These objects, or objectives of the conspiracy, are the illegal goals that

the conspirators hoped to achieve.  The Government must prove that the

conspiracy intended to achieve one, but not necessarily both, of the objectives

alleged in the Indictment.

b. Object of the Conspiracy – Violation of the FCPA

One of the objects of the conspiracy charged in Count One of the

Indictment is a violation of the FCPA.  Section 78dd-2(a) of Title 15 of the United

States Code prohibits making use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of

interstate commerce willfully and corruptly in furtherance of a payment — or

offer, promise or authorization of payment — or offer, gift, promise to give,

authorization of the giving of anything of value — to any foreign official for the

purpose of:

(A)(i) influencing any act or decision of such foreign

official in his official capacity, or (ii) inducing such foreign

official to do or omit to do any act in violation of the lawful

duty of such official, or (B) inducing such foreign official

to use his influence with a foreign government or

instrumentality thereof to affect or influence any act or

decision of such government or instrumentality, in order to

assist [the person or company making the payment] in

obtaining or retaining business for or with, or directing

business to, any person.

The substantive offense has seven elements, which I will define for you.  You
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should note that the Government need not prove each of the following elements in

order to prove that the defendant engaged in a conspiracy to violate the FCPA.  I

am instructing you on the elements only because they will aid you in your

determination as to whether the Government has sustained its proof with respect to

this Count.

i. First Element – Domestic Concern

A person cannot be found to have violated the FCPA unless he or she

is a “domestic concern” or is an officer, director, employee, or agent of a “domestic

concern.”  A “domestic concern” is defined to include any individual who is a

citizen, national, or resident of the United States.

ii. Second Element – Interstate Commerce

The person must have intended to make use of the mails or a means or

instrumentality of interstate commerce.  The term “interstate commerce” means

trade, commerce, transportation, or communication among the several states, or

between any foreign country and any state.  An “instrumentality” of interstate

commerce includes means of communication, such as a telephone, fax machine, or

transportation, such as a car or plane.

iii. Third Element – Corruptly and Willfully

The third element of a violation of the FCPA is that the person
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intended to act “corruptly” and “willfully.” 

A person acts “corruptly” if he acts voluntarily and intentionally, with

an improper motive of accomplishing either an unlawful result, or a lawful result

by some unlawful method or means.  The term “corruptly” is intended to connote

that the offer, payment, and promise was intended to influence an official to misuse

his official position.

A person acts “willfully” if he acts deliberately and with the intent to

do something that the law forbids, that is, with a bad purpose to disobey or

disregard the law.  The person need not be aware of the specific law and rule that

his conduct may be violating, but he must act with the intent to do something that

the law forbids. 

iv. Fourth Element – Offer, Promise, or Payment

of Anything of Value

The person must also have intended to act in furtherance of a payment

or an offer, promise, or authorization of payment of money, or an offer, gift,

promise to give or authorization of the giving of anything of value.  

It is not necessary that the bribe, or offer or promise of a bribe, was

intended to be made directly by that person to the foreign official.  A person who

engages in bribery of a foreign official indirectly through any other person or entity

is liable under the FCPA, just as if the person had engaged in the bribery directly. 
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Thus, if the person authorizes another to pay or promise a bribe, that authorization

alone is sufficient to violate the FCPA.

Further, it is not necessary that the payment actually take place or that

the gift actually be given.  Instead, it is the offer, promise, or authorization of the

bribe that completes the crime.  Thus, this element is satisfied if the person

authorized an unlawful payment or gift, even if the payment was not actually made

or gift was not actually given — that it was diverted by middlemen or even that the

middlemen never intended to pay the bribe.

Finally, the intended payment or authorization thereof need not be in

the form of money.  The phrase “anything of value” means any item, whether

tangible or intangible, that the intended recipient considered to be valuable.  Thus,

objects, items, or something that provides a benefit, such as a service, is sufficient

to satisfy this element.  

You should note, however, that the FCPA makes an exception for

payments that facilitate or expedite routine governmental action. 

v. Fifth Element – Knowledge of Payment to a

Foreign Official

The fifth element of a violation of the FCPA is that the person knew

that all or a portion of the payment or gift would be offered, given, or promised,

directly or indirectly, to any foreign official. 
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A “foreign official” is: (1) an officer or employee of a foreign

government; (2) any department, agency, or instrumentality of such foreign

government; or (3) any person acting in an official capacity for or on behalf of

such government or department, agency, or instrumentality. 

An “instrumentality” of a foreign government includes

government-owned or government-controlled companies.

The FCPA provides that a person’s state of mind is “knowing” with

respect to conduct, a circumstance, or a result if:

i. such person is aware that such person is engaging in

such conduct, that such circumstance exists, or that such

result is substantially certain to occur; or

ii. such person has a firm belief that such circumstance

exists or that such result is substantially certain to occur.

When knowledge of the existence of a particular fact is an element of

the offense, such knowledge may be established if a person is aware of a high

probability of its existence and consciously and intentionally avoided confirming

that fact.  Knowledge may be proven in this manner if, but only if, the person

suspects the fact, realized its high probability, but refrained from obtaining the

final confirmation because he wanted to be able to deny knowledge.

On the other hand, knowledge is not established in this manner if the

person merely failed to learn the fact through negligence or if the person actually
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believed that the transaction was legal. 

It also bears noting that while a finding that the person was aware of

the high probability of the existence of a fact is enough to prove that this person

possessed knowledge, it is not sufficient in order to determine that the person acted

“willfully” or “corruptly,” which is a separate and distinct element of the offense.

vi. Sixth Element – Purpose of the Payment

The sixth element of a violation of the FCPA is that the payment, gift,

promise, or authorization thereof was for one of three purposes:

(1) to influence any act or decision of a foreign public official in

his official capacity;

(2) to induce a foreign public official to do or omit to do any act in

violation of that official’s lawful duty; or

(3) to induce that foreign official to use his influence with a foreign

government or instrumentality thereof to affect or influence any act or decision of

such government or instrumentality. 

One of these purposes must have been the reason for the payment,

gift, or promise.  Proof that any foreign official was actually influenced is not

required.

vii. Seventh Element – Business Nexus
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The final element of a violation of the FCPA is that a payment, gift,

offer, promise, or authorization thereof was to be made for the purpose of assisting

the person in obtaining or retaining business for any person or company.  However,

proof that the person actually obtained or retained any business whatsoever as a

result of an unlawful offer, payment, promise, or gift is not necessary.

viii. Solicitation of a Bribe Not a Defense

It does not matter who suggested that a corrupt offer, payment,

promise or gift be made.  The FCPA prohibits any payment or gift intended to

influence the recipient, regardless of who first suggested it.  It is not a defense that

the payment was demanded by a government official as a price for gaining entry

into a market or to obtain a contract or other benefit.  That the offer to pay,

payment, promise to pay, or authorization of payment may have been first

suggested by the intended recipient is not deemed an excuse for a person’s decision

to make a corrupt payment, nor does it alter the corrupt purpose with which the

offer to pay, payment, promise to pay, or authorization of payment was made.

c. Object of the Conspiracy – Violation of the Travel Act

The other object of the conspiracy charged in Count One is Section

1952 of Title 18 of the United States Code, which makes it a federal crime for

anyone to travel in interstate commerce or use interstate facilities for the purpose


